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PLAINTIFFS’ MEMORANDUM OF LAW IN SUPPORT OF THEIR
MOTION FOR PRELIMINARY INJUNCTION

INTRODUCTION

Plaintiffs are owners and operators of charter halibut fishing operations in Alaska
operating in International Pacific Halibut Commission (IPHC) regulatory areas 2C (Southeast
Alaska) and 3A (Central Gulf of Alaska). Plaintiffs are directly and significantly affected by a
final rule approved by the Secretary of Commerce and issued by the National Marine Fisheries
Service (NMFS) titled Pacific Halibut Fisheries; Limited Access for Guided Sport Charter
Vessels in Alaska as published in the Federal Register on January 5, 2010 (75 Fed. Reg. 554).!
The portion of the rule at issue before this Court became effective February 1, 2011. See 75 Fed.
Reg. 554.

The final rule deprives Plaintiffs of permits needed to continue their charter fishing
operations. Without thebrequired Charter Halibut Permits (CHPs), Plaintiffs can no longer stay i
in business. Although Plaintiffs have invested hundreds of thousands of dollars to build their
businesses over a number of years, and heretofore have applied for and been granted the required
guide licenses through the Alaska Department of Fish and Game (ADFG) without question, the
rule summarily términates Plaintiffs’ operations because they fail to meet arbitrary minimum
participation requirements.

To obtain a CHP, Plaintiffs would have to demonstrate threshold halibut fishing activity
during a qualifying period (February 1 through December 31 of 2004 or 2005) and a recent
participation period (February 1 through December 31 of 2008). In sum, anyone who started

and developed their business during the last five years must go out of business no matter how

' A copy of the final rule as published at 75 Fed. Reg. 554 is attached as Exhibit 1 in Plaintiffs’
Complaint. In addition the final rule was codified as 50 C.F.R. Chapter III, Part 300, Subpart E,
§§ 300.61, 300.66 and 300.67.



much they have invested in their operations, how much they owe on boats, real estate and
equipment and no matter how many new and return clients attempt to book fishing trips with
them.

Plaintiffs purchased boats, equipment and real estate within the last five years and, prior to
the implementation of the final rule, applied for and were granted permits from ADFG allowing
them to operate charter fishing operations which included the taking of halibut. None of the
plaintiffs meet the minimum participation criteria for a CHP under the new rule. None of the
plaintiffs can obtain an initial CHP and ensure the continued viability of their halibut charter
operations. The most egregious and unconscionable aspect of the rule, is that the rule is not
intended to protect halibut. NMFS candidly admits “the halibut resource in Area 2C and 3A is
being managed in a sustainable manner. . . .” See 75 Fed. Reg. at 568. Thus, the status quo 1s not
harming the halibut resource.

The rule is actually intended to put charter boats out of business and consolidate the fleet.
In sum, the rule is not intended to protect the reproduction and harvest of halibut; the rule is
intended to protect an arbitrary declaration of what constitutes the established halibut charter
fleet from newcomers.

Neither the North Pacific Halibut Act of 1982 (Halibut Act), nor the limited entry criteria
of the Magnuson-Stevens Fishery Conservation and Management Act (Magnuson-Stevens Act),
allow access to a fishery to be denied without a conservation purpose specifically tied to
maintaining an optimum yield of a regulated fish species. No optimum yield has been
determined for the Pacific halibut. Consequently, the final rule violates both the Halibut Act and
the Magnuson-Stevens Act and puts Plaintiffs out of the halibut charter fishing business for

reasons unrelated to Pacific halibut conservation.



Absent an order from this Court enjoining implémentation of the final rule, Plaintiffs will
suffer immediate and irreparable injury for which there is no remedy at law. Plaintiffs have had
to turn away new bookings, cancel existing reservations and return deposits and will be unable to
generate income to keep their businesses viable; some may lose their boats, equipment and real

estate as debt service comes due but no income is available.

THE COURT HAS JURISDICTION TO GRANT
THE RELIEF REQUESTED BY PLAINTIFFS

This Court has jurisdiction over this action under the Halibut Act, which provides that
“[t]he district courts of the United States shall have exclusive jurisdiction over any case or
controversy arising under this Act. Any such court may, at any time- (1) enter restraining orders
or prohibitions; (2) issue warrants, process in rem or other process; (3) prescribe and accept
satisfactory bonds or other security; and (4) take such other actions as are in the interest of
justice.” 16 U.S.C. § 773i(d).

In addition, this Court has jurisdiction under Section 705 of the Administrative
Procedures Act to grant relief pending review of agency action. Specifically, that section
provides in part:

On such conditions as may be required and to the extent necessary
to prevent irreparable injury, the reviewing court, including the
court to which a case may be taken on appeal from or on
application for certiorari or other writ to a reviewing court, may
issue all necessary and appropriate process to postpone the
effective date of an agency action or to preserve status or rights

pending conclusion of the review proceedings.

5 U.S.C. §705.

PLAINTIFFS ARE ENTITLED TO A PRELIMINARY INJUNCTION

In deciding whether to grant a preliminary injunction, the Court must assess (1) the

likelihood of success on the merits; (2) the irreparable injury to the plaintiff if preliminary relief



is not granted; (3) the burden, if any, on others’ interests from an injunction; and (4) the public
interest in granting or denying relief. See Mova Pharm. Corp. v. Shalala, 140 F.3d 1060, 1066
(D.C. Cir. 1998)). These factors interrelate on a sliding scale under a traditional equitable
analysis, and relief may be afforded “where there is a particularly strong likelihood of success of
the merits even if there is a relatively slight showing of irreparable injury.” City Fed Fin. Corp.
v. Office of Thrift Supervision, 58 F.3d 736, 747 (D.C. Cir. 1995); see also Cuomo v. U.S. NRC,
772 F.2d 972,974 (D.C. Cir. 1985) (justifying injunction with “either a high probability of
success and some injury or vice versa.”)

Each of these four factors articulated in Mova Pharm. Corp v. Shalala, 140 F.3d 1060,
1066 (D. C. Cir. 1998) weigh in Plaintiffs’ favor as demonstrated herein, and entitle them to the
injunctive relief requested in that: 1) Plaintiffs are likely to succeed on the merits; the rule
violates both the Halibut Act and the limited entry provisions of the Magnuson-Stevens Act; 2)
Plaintiffs have and will suffer irreparable injury; without a CHP, Plaintiffs are out of the halibut
charter business; 3) any injunction granted by this Court will have no impact upon the legitimate
interest of others; as explained herein, the rule is not intended to protect halibut but to prevent
newcomers into the halibut fleet; and, 4) granting such relief is in the public interest in that,
without impacting halibut reproduction, recruitment or harvest, hundreds of small business
owners will be able to remain in business providing jobs and traveling angler dollars to their
local communities and the State of Alaska.

I. Plaintiffs are Likely to Succeed on the Merits

The final rule violates the Halibut Act and the limited access provisions of the Magnuson-
Stevens Act. The Halibut Act, 16 U.S.C. § 773¢(c), provides in pertinent part:

The Regional Fishery Management Council having authority for
the geographic area concerned may develop regulations governing



the United States portion of Convention waters, including limited
access regulations, applicable to nationals or vessels of the United
States, or both, which are in addition to, and not in conflict with
regulations adopted by the Commission. Such regulations shall
only be implemented with the approval of the Secretary, shall not
discriminate between residents of different States, and shall be
consistent with the limited entry criteria set forth in section
1853(b)(6) of this title. If it becomes necessary to allocate or
assign halibut fishing privileges among various United States
fishermen, such allocation shall be fair and equitable to all such
fishermen, based upon the rights and obligations in existing
Federal law, reasonably calculated to promote conservation,
and carried out in such manner that no particular individual,
corporation, or other entity acquires an excessive share of the
halibut fishing privileges: Provided, That the Regional Council
may provide for the rural coastal villages of Alaska the opportunity
to establish a commercial halibut fishery in areas in the Bering Sea
to the north of 56 degrees north latitude during a 3 year
development period.

(Underline and bold emphasis added; italics as in original).

A. The Final Rule is not Reasonably Calculated to Promote Conservation in
Violation of the Halibut Act

Under the Halibut Act, “if it becomes necessary to allocate or assign halibut fishing
privileges among various United States fishermen, such allocation shall be fair and equitable to
all such fishermen, based upon the rights and obligations in existing Federal law, reasonably

calculated to promote conservation.” 16 U.S.C. § 773¢(c) (emphasis added). However, the

Defendant agencies have conceded that this rule serves no identified conservation purpose
stating in the preamble to the final rule that curtailing growth of guided sport fishing capacity
will not limit halibut harvest. “This rule is not designed to limit the harvest of halibut by charter
vessel anglers, but rather to curtail the growth of fishing capacity by the charter halibut fishery.”
75 Fed. Reg. at 571. “Any reduction in harvest by the charter halibut sector during the short
term more likely will result from direct harvest controls, such as the daily bag limit reduction for

charter vessel anglers in Area 2C....” Id.



By NMFS’s own admission, the final rule is not calculated, designed, or intended to
promote conservation: “[t]he limited access program was not designed to limit charter harvest or
reduce halibut mortality in the charter fisheries.” See Appendix Item A, (March 30, 2011
Correspondence from the U.S. Small Business Administration to Plaintiff Allen Walburn). In
éontrast, NMES concedes there is no halibut resource concern: “the halibut resource in Area 2C
and 3A is being managed in a sustainable manner. . . .” See 75 Fed. Reg. at 568. Because the
final rule serves no conservation purpose as evidence by a current healthy managed halibut
resource, the final rule is invalid under the Halibut Act the allocation of fishing privileges is not
“reasonably calculated to promote conservation.”

B. The Final Rule Fails to Comply with Limited Access Provisions of Magnuson-
Stevens Act

The final rule, as approved by the Secretary of Commerce, is a part of an effort by the
North Pacific Fishery Management Council (Council) to develop a regulatory program to
manage the guided sport charter vessel fishery for halibut.” The final rule is not consistent with
the limited access provisions of 16 U.S.C. § 1853(b)(6) of the Magnuson-Stevens Act which by
incorporation in the Halibut Act apply when the Council is creating a limited access system for
the halibut fishery. Thus, when the Council is creating a limited access system, the NMFS must

abide by the limited access provisions of 16 U.S.C. section 1853(b)(6) of the Magnuson-Stevens

% See 75 Fed. Reg. 554. In the preamble to the final rule it is explained that the final rule was a
product of the International Pacific Halibut Commission (IPHC) but that, under the Halibut Act,
the North Pacific Fishery Management Council (Council) has authority to develop regulations,
including limited access regulations, subject to approval by the Secretary of Commerce. It is
noted in the preamble that the “Council also has been developing a regulatory program to
manage the guided sport charter vessel fishery for halibut.” The final rule “is a step in the
development of that regulatory program and has been approved by the Secretary pursuant to
section 773¢(c).”



Act. These provisions require a fishery management plan be prepared prior to the establishment
of any limited access system.
16 U.S.C. section 1853(b)(6) provides:

(b) Discretionary provisions
Any fishery management plan which is prepared by any Council,
or by the Secretary, with respect to any fishery, may—

% %k %
(6) Establish a limited access system for the fishery in order

to achieve optimum yield if, in developing such a system,
the Council and the Secretary take into account—

(A) present participation in the fishery;

(B) historical fishing practices in, and dependence on,
the fishery;

(C) the economics of the fishery;

(D) the capability of fishing vessels used in the fishery
to engage in other fisheries;

(E) the cultural and social framework relevant to the
fishery and any affecting fishing communities;

(F) the fair and equitable distribution of access
privileges in the fishery; and

(G) any other relevant considerations.

(emphasis added).

NMEFS admits that no fishery management plan has been developed for the Pacific
halibut (Hippoglossus stenolepis) by the Council or itself. See 75 Fed. Reg. at 559. It is also
critical to understand that a limited access system under section (6) must be necessary to achieve
“optimum yield” for halibut. In this case, NMFS readily admits in the final rule that
“specification of optimum yield for halibut . . . has not been determined.” See 75 Fed. Reg. at
559. In short, until a fishery management plan that establishes an optimum yield for halibut is
adopted, a limited access system for the halibut fishery cannot be valid.

Even if a limited access system could be imposed upon the halibut fishery, the Secretary

failed to take the section (6) criteria into account. The rule became final in January of 2010,



effective February of 2011 but is retroactive—for purposes of obtaining a CHP—to 2005. Ata
minimum, the retroactive application of the qualifying criteria fails to properly take into account
(A) present participation in the fishery, (B) historical fishing practices in, and dependence on, the
fishery; (C) the economics of the fishery; or (F) the fair and equitable distribution of access
privileges in the fishery. The capability of fishing vessels used in the fishery to engage in other
fisheries, paragraph (6)(D), was also largely ignored. As noted in the affidavits attached to the
Complaint and incorporated herein by reference, potential clients will not book trips solely for
salmon once told they cannot fish for halibut. See Appendix, containing Exhibits 3-7 to the
Complaint.

i. Defendants failed to properly assess the economic impact of the
final rule

The Halibut Act requires any allocation program “shall be consistent with the limited

entry criteria set forth in [the Magnuson-Stevens Act] section 1853(b)(6) of [title 16].” 16
U.S.C. § 773¢(c) (emphasis added). One of the limited entry criteria requires the Council and
Secretary to consider the “economics of the fishery.” 16 U.S.C. § 1853(b)(6)(C). NMFS did not
analyze the economics of the halibut industry and specifically did not ahalyze the impact on the
small charter businesses that the final rule will put out of business with the effect of making the
qualifying charter businesses more profitable (and not related to any resource conservation
objective). NMFS recognized that its analysis of the economics was deficient in the final rule
wherein it stated:

The Analysis estimates numbers of operations affected by this

action, and examines the costs and benefits of the action accruing

to different sectors. Much of the Analysis is qualitative,

reflecting the limited information that exists on the charter
vessel business generally and on the angler demand.



See 75 Fed. Reg. at 573 (emphasis added).?

Notwithstanding that there is no real conservation purpose for the rule, forty-three
percent (43%) of halibut charter businesses active in IPHC area 2C in 2008 (173 businesses of
404) will not qualify for permits. See Analysis, p. 207-208. In IPHC area 3 A, thirty-four percent
(34%) of the businesses active in 2008 (154 businesses of 450) will not qualify for a permit. /d.
“[A]ctive guided charter operations that will not receive a permit to continue to participate in this

fishery, will suffer significant adverse economic impacts.” /d. at 209. (emphasis added).

In their Analysis defendants admit that up to 327 businesses will suffer significant adverse
economic impacts—nearly 40 percent (327 of 854) of all halibut charter operations that were
active in areas 2C and 3A combined in 2008—but concede in the preamble to the rule that the
Analysis is “qualitative, reflecting the limited information that exists on the charter vessel
business generally and on the angler demand.” See 75 Fed. Reg. at 573. NMFS did not qﬁantify
(or even attempt to quantify) the economic impacts on the charter businesses that will not receive
a CHP. Nor did NMFS quantify the expected economic windfall that it will bestow upon the
select charter businesses that will receive one or more CHPs.

| Nor did NMFS appropriately consider the economic impacts on small businesses. In
response to inquiries from the Small Business Administration on behalf of Plaintiff Allen
Walburn, NMFS conceded it lacked the information to conduct an appropriate analysis:
The economic activity resulting from charter halibut fishing
activities generates revenue and employment for residents of the

communities where expenditures occur. However, employment
and revenue information for the charter sector and the secondary

? The Analysis referred to in this quotation is the Environmental Assessment/Regulatory Impact
Review/Final Regulatory Flexibility Analysis for a Regulatory Amendment to Limit Entry in the
Halibut Charter Fisheries in IPHC Regulatory Areas 2C and 34, National Marine Fisheries
Service, November 6, 2009, Executive Summary at ix. Hereinafter “4nalysis.”



industry sectors that are impacted by charter fishing is not
available to assess the current economic contribution of the charter
halibut fishery or the anticipated effects of the limited access
program on expenditures and jobs in coastal communities in the
State of Alaska.

See Appendix Item B, (March 11, 2011 Correspondence from the U.S. Small Business
Administration to Plaintiff Allen Walburn). In short, NMFS concedes that the “Analysis does
not estimate the number of jobs or amount of gross revenue that would be impacted by
implementation of the program.” Id.* While acknowledging the information and data to assess
economic impacts was currently unavailable, NMFS admitted it own economic analysts have
begun research projects but such research is ongoing:

NOAA Fisheries economic analysts have recently initiated

research projects to estimate the regional employment and income

impacts associated with changes in the attributes of guided halibut

fishing trips and the relationship between the halibut fishing:

sectors and the Southeast Alaska economy. These research

projects may provide baseline information about the economic

impacts of the charter sector on coastal communities and the State

of Alaska. Such information would improve NOAA Fisheries’

ability to analyze the impacts of proposed fishery management

actions in the future.
Id.

Without fully understanding the charter vessel business or angler demand, the Defendants

simply and prematurely decree that 40 percent of the halibut charter fleet cannot have permits to

continue their—in most cases—well established and ongoing operations. This is a reckless action

and inconsistent with the statute and it own regulations.

* More recently, NMFS acknowledging a significant percentage of charter halibut operations
(approximately 327 operations) will not receive or obtain a CHP, candidly admits that “[t]he
number of jobs that would be lost [due to the final rule] was not quantified in the analysis.” See
Appendix Item A, (March 30, 2011 Correspondence from the U.S. Small Business
Administration to Plaintiff Allen Walburn).
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It is axiomatic that agencies must follow their own rules. See, e.g., Ballard v. Comm’r of
Internal Revenue, 544 U.S. 40, 59 (2005). If an agency desires to change its rules, the APA
requires that it must do so only under a proper notice and comment procedure. See 5 U.S.C. §
553. The D.C. Circuit has held:

[1]t is elementary that an agency must adhere to its own

rules and regulations. Ad hoc departures from those rules, even to

achieve laudable aims, cannot be sanctioned, for therein lies the

seeds of destruction of the orderliness and predictability which are

the hallmarks of lawful administrative action. Simply stated, rules

are rules, and fidelity to the rules which have been properly

promulgated, consistent with applicable statutory requirements, is

required of those to whom Congress has entrusted the regulatory

missions of modern life.
Reuters Ltd. v. FCC, 781 F.2d 946, 950-51 (D.C. Cir. 1986) (citation omitted). See also Brock v.
Cathedral Bluffs Shale Oil Co., 796 F.2d 533, 536 (D.C. Cir. 1986) (Scalia, J.) (“It is axiomatic
that an agency must adhere to its own regulations . . .”).

The final rule violates and is inconsistent with NMFS’s regulations — National Standard 5

— Efficiency (50 C.F.R. § 600.330) that implements the economics of the fishery criteria in 16
U.S.C. section 1553(b)(6)(C). National Standard 5, provides in part, that “no [conservation and
management] measure shall have economic allocation as its sole purpose.” 50 C.F.R. §
600.330(a). The final rule is designed and calculated solely to cause a consolidation of the
guided sport fishery for halibut by “curtailing growth” of that industry. National Standard 5
specifically discusses standards for limited access to fisheries. 50 C.F.R. § 600.330(c), provides
in part the following description of limited access systems:

A ‘system for limiting access,” which is an optional measure under

section 303(b) of the Magnuson-Stevens Act, is a type of

allocation of fishing privileges that may be considered to

contribute to economic efficiency or conservation. For example,

limited access may be used to combat overfishing, overcrowding,
or overcapitalization in a fishery to achieve OY [Optimum Yield].

11



In considering any limited access system, National Standard 5 expressly recognizes that
“[t]he Magnuson-Stevens Act ties the use of limited access to the achievement of OY.” 50
C.F.R. § 600.330(c)(2). NMFS has failed to establish an optimum yield for halibut and as such
any limited access program for halibut that is not “tied” to the achievement of an optimum yield
for halibut is inconsistent with National Standard 5 and 16 U.S.C. section 1853(b)(6)(C).
Accordingly, the final rule violates not only the Halibut Act but also is in violation of the
NMEFS’s own regulations. Accordingly, the final rule is invalid and must be enjoined.

ii. The final rule does not allocate fishing rights in a fair or
equitable manner

Ignoring that the final rule has nothing to do with halibut conservation — “the halibut
resource in Area 2C and 3A is being managed in a sustainable manner” see 75 Fed. Reg. at 568 —
the Defendants attempt to explain away the impact upon businesses that cannot get a permit by
noting the surviving operations will have to take more trips. “The Analysis . . . indicates that the
number of permits issued under this rule will allow permitted vessels to meet 2008 levels of
charter trips by increasing the average number of trips they make in Area 2C from 36 to 52, and
in Area 3A from 38 to 56.” See 75 Fed. Reg. at 572.

This is directly inconsistent with unambiguous language in the Halibut Act which

requires that such allocation shall be fair and equitable to all such fishermen and reasonably

calculated to promote conservation. 16 U.S.C. § 773¢(c) (emphasis added). The limited entry

provisions of the Magnuson-Stevens Act also require the fair and equitable distribution of access

privileges in the fishery. The final rule simply takes away charter fishing trips from 327 ongoing

businesses, based upon 2004, 2005, and 2008 activity, and hands those trips over to others within
the fleet. The final rule—without any benefit to the Pacific Halibut population—puts one charter

operation out of business in favor of a windfall to another which may now increase its number of

12



trips by 44 percent (Area 2C) to 47 percent (Area 3A). There is nothing fair or equitable to such

an approach.

II. Plaintiffs will Suffer Irreparable Injury
As defendants admit, “... active guided charter operations that will not receive a permit to

continue to participate in this fishery, will suffer significant adverse economic impacts.” Those

injuries are irreparable and in certain cases personally devastating.

Nick and Amy Ausman own Crystal Bay Lodge, LLC in Petersburg, Alaska. Since 2005,
the Ausman’s have invested over a million dollars in securing a location for their lodge,
purchasing a boat and purchasing equipment. See Appendix Item C, (Affidavit of Captain
Nicholas Ausman which is also Exhibit 3 to the Complaint). In 2008, the Ausmans hired a
captain to take clients out to fish for halibut. When the Ausman’s learned of the final rule, they
applied for a permit and were denied; they appealed and again were denied a permit. Expenses
to maintain the lodge, including debt service, exceed $ 12,000.00 per month (approximately
$150,000.00 a year). Without a permit, the Ausman’s cannot fulfill advanced bookings for
charter halibut fishing or accept new bookings. As an oceanfront lodge, halibut fishing is the
reason clients book with the Ausmans. Alternative fisheries, e.g., salmon fishing, cannot support
the lodge or provide sufficient income to cover debt service and monthly expenses. With no
permit, and no income from halibut fishing, the Ausman’s will be unable to remain in business.
The value of the lodge is dramatically diminished without the ability to fish for halibut. Without
relief from the final rule, Crystal Bay Lodge, LLC, will likely be forced to file for bankruptcy.

Captain Allen B. Walburn is the owner and operator of Alaska’s Kodiak Island Resort,
LLC which was established January 1, 2006, to provide guided charter fishing, lodging and

meals in Larsen Bay, Alaska. See Appendix Item D, (Affidavit of Captain Allen B. Walburn
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which is also Exhibit 4 to the Complaint). Captain Walburn has invested a total of
$1,500,000.00 in Kodiak Island Resort and has advanced bookings for the 2011 halibut season
exceeding $400,000.00 in charter fees. Not having been established in either qualifying year
(2004 or 2005), Captain Walburn nonetheless applied for and was denied a permit which entitled
Kodiak Island Resort to a revocable temporary 4-person permit pending an appeal of the denial
which is to be heard in May 2011. Captain Walburn has been advised by the NMFS that he does
not qualify for a CHP; his appeal appears futile and his loss of over $400,000.00 in charter
bookings, and a dramatic reduction, if not elimination, in revenues at the lodge, is imminent.

Captain Jack Roskind is the president of Charter Operators of Alaska a non-profit
organization. See Appendix Item E, (Affidavit of Captain Jack Roskind which is also Exhibit 6
to the Complaint). Captain Roskind owns and operates Knot Roughin’ It Charters, LLC.
Captain Roskind has actively participated in the charter halibut fishery starting in Seward in
2007 and then moved his operation to Whittier, Alaska in 2008. Although not active in either
qualifying year (2004 or 2005), Captain Roskind nonetheless applied for and was denied a
permit which would entitle him to a revocable temporary 4-person permit pending an appeal of
the denial. Captain Roskind has been advised by the NMFS that he does not qualify for a CHP;
his appeal appears futile and the revocation of his temporary permit certain. After four years of
active participation in the halibut fishery, Captain Roskind will no longer be able to operate his
charter business unless the final rule is set aside. The demise of Captain Roskind’s business is
imminent.

Charter Operators of Alaska, Inc. includes members who have paid membership fees as
well as numerous supporters. Supporters include approximately eleven hundred individuals who

have signed an electronic petition to Save Alaska Charter Halibut Fishing for Tomorrow posted
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on the COA website.” Current members include approximately 34 charter operations and fishing
lodges that offer chartered fishing that are dependent upon halibut and the ability to take guest to
fish for halibut. See Appendix Item E, (Affidavit of Captain Jack Roskind which is also Exhibit
6 to the Complaint). Thesé owners and operators, and COA members, are a subset of the 327
charter operations that will be forced out of business if the rule is not set aside.

Their return to the halibut fishery is virtually impossible. The rule has resulted in a sellers’
market for those charter operations who qualify for a transferable CHP. Although the
Defendants’ Analysis suggested that transferable permits would be available for sale as
qualifying operations shut down, and that those permits would likely cost approximately
$5,000.00, permit brokerage companies are currently offering CHPs for $40,000.00 to
$100,000.00 and more depending upon the location and the number of anglérs authorized under
the CHP. /d. In addition, recent information from NMFS indicates that recent sales of CHPs in
2011 for Area 3A are ~$60,000 and Area 2C is ~$37,000. See Appendix Item A, (March 30,
2011 Correspondence from the U.S. Small Business Administration to Plaintiff Allen Walburn).
The 327 charter operations, including COA’s members, have not only been ejected from the
fleet, they have been precluded from re-entering the halibut fishery due to the high price and
limited availability of transferable CHPs.

This Court has previously held that “economic loss may constitute irreparable harm
where the loss threatens the very existence of the movant’s business” or “where plaintiff has
made a showing that the economic loss would significantly damage its business above and
beyond a simple diminution in profits.” World Duty Free Americas, Inc. v. Summers, 94 F. Supp.

2d 61, 67 (D.D.C. 2000). This Court has further recognized that “admittedly economic” injury

3 See http://www.change. org/petitions/save-alaskan-charter-halibut-fishing-for-
tomorrow#signatures.
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- amounts to irreparable harm when “no adequate compensatory or other corrective relief” could
be provided at a later date. Bracco Diagnostics v. Shalala, 963 F. Supp. 20, 29 (D.D.C. 1997);
See also Hoffman Laroche Inc. v. Califano, 453 F. Supp 900, 903 (D.D.C. 1978) (where no other
corrective relief is available, “it is not one of the ‘mere’ economic injuries which . . . are
insufficient to warrant a stay.”). In this case, Plaintiffs do not have a viable action against the
Defendants for damages because fishing rights are not necessarily property protected by the Fifth
Amendment to the U.S. Constitution. In addition, the harm threatens the very existence of their
businesses and livelihoods, not just their profits.

Courts have also recognized that the required injury is present — and preliminary injunctive
relief is appropriate — in cases whére “time is of the essence.” See, e.g., United States v. BNS,
Inc., 858 F.2d 456, 465 (9th Cir. 1988); Martin-Marietta Corp. v. Bendix Corp., 690 F.2d 558,
568 (6™ Cir. 1982). That is the case here. The effective date of the challenged portion of the
final rule became effective on February 1, 2011. See 75 Fed. Reg. 554. Because of the rule’s
effective date, Plaintiffs will be irreparably harmed unless the Court acts immediately, “when it
[is] still possible to grant effective relief,” and before “all opportunity to grant the requested
relief [is] foreclosed.” Local Lodge No. 1266, Int’l Ass'n of Machinists and Aerospace Workers
v. Panoramic Corp., 668 F.2d 276, 290 (7" Cir. 1981).

III. Injunctive Relief will not Substantially Injure other Interested Parties

The prime season for halibut fishing begins in May and runs through September. If
implementation of the rule is enjoined prior to May 2011, the charter fleet as a whole should
experience similar bookings as in the 2010 season and avoid irreparable injury. The government
defendants cannot be said to be burdened by a delay in implementation of the final rule. Because

the final rule makes clear that halibut harvest is not likely to be affected, due to qualifying
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charter operations simply increasing bookings and trips, the government defendants cannot claim
any exigent circumstances related to resource protection.’ Consequently, no other interested
parties will be substantially impacted or injured should this Court grant the relief requested.

This Court has held that issuing an injunction is proper where the only injury to a federal
agency defendant is delay. See, e.g., International Long Term Care v. Shalala, 947 F. Supp. 15,
20 (D.D.C. 1996) (delay in administrative process was not a basis for denying preliminary
injunction); DSE, Inc. v. United States, 3 F. Supp. 2d 1464, 1472 (D.D.C. 1998); Nat 'l Treasury
Employees Union v. U.S. Dep't of Treasury, 838 F. Supp. 631, 640 (D.D.C. 1993). Nor will the
entry of a preliminary injunction harm any person involved in the halibut fisheries as the NMFS
expects the same amount of halibut to be harvested by the now consolidated chartered halibut
fleet. See 75 Fed. Reg. at 572 (where NMFS stated “Although the number of vessels with charter
halibut permits operating under this rule is limited, their passenger carrying capacity exceeds
current 2008 levels of participation. The numbers of charter halibut permits and associated

endorsements issued under this rule create significant opportunities for charter halibut operations

6 See 75 Fed. Reg. at 566 wherein NMFS candidly admits reduction in harvest will occur only
through direct harvest controls such as a bag limit reduction and not by consolidation of the
charter fleet:

the intended effect of this rule is to ‘curtail growth of fishing
capacity in the guided sport fishery for halibut.” NMFS does not
expect growth curtailment to result in harvest curtailment, at least
in the short term. Any reduction in the harvest by the charter
halibut sector during the short term more likely will result from
direct harvest controls, such as the daily bag limit reduction for
charter vessel anglers in Area 2C this year (74 FR 21194, May 6,
2009).
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to expand their capacity to meet existing and higher levels of angler demand for guided halibut
fishing.”).’

Lastly, injunctive relief would not harm or burden the general public. The Defendants
have expressly admitted that the final rule does not implicate resource conservation concerns.
See 75 Fed. Reg. at 571 (“This rule is not designed to limit the harvest of halibut by charter
vessel anglers, but rather to curtail the growth of fishing capacity by the charter halibut
fishery.”). Instead, the final rule deals only with an allocation issue. Id. As such, injunctive
relief will not result in any environmental injury. See 75 Fed. Reg. at 568 (where NMFS admits
“the halibut resource in Area 2C and 3A is being managed in a sustainable manner”).

IV. The Public Interest is Furthered by the Injunctive Relief Requested

Long ago, the D.C. Circuit recognized that “there is an overriding public interest... in the
general importance of an agency’s faithful adherence to its statutory mandate.” Jacksonville Port
Authority v. Adams, 556 F.2d 52, 59 (D.C. Cir. 1977). This adherence is all that Plaintiffs seek
in this case. Similarly, it is axiomatic that an agency is required to follow Congressional
mandates and its own regulations. See Ballard v. Comm’r of Internal Revenue, 544 U.S. 40, 59
(2005). Accordingly, it serves the public interest when an agency is enjoined from acting
unlawfully. See, e.g., Clarke v. Office of Fed. Hous. Enter. Oversight, 355 F. Supp 2d 56, 66
(D.D.C. 2004) (noting a “substantial public interest” in ensuring that a federal agency “acts
within the limits of its authority™); Mova Pharm. Corp. v. Shalala, 140 F.3d 1060, 1066 (1998)
(affirming preliminary injunction based in part on the public’s interest in an agency’s faithful

execution of the laws); Nobby Lobby, Inc. v. City of Dallas, 970 F.2d 82, 93 (5™ Cir. 1992).

7 See Id. at 568 (“These figures indicate that the charter halibut industry will be able to meet
recent charter vessel angler demand levels with the number of permits expected to be issued
under this rule. Hence, no restriction in guided angler access to the halibut resource is expected
under this rule.”).
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To the extent that there is any concern that the final rule is necessary to protect the halibut
resource, the Defendants have conceded that the final rule does not implicate resource
conservation concerns. See 75 Fed. Reg. at 568 (where NMFS admits “the halibut resource in
Area 2C and 3A is being managed in a sustainable manner”). The issuance of a preliminary
injunction will not affect the halibut stock or have any adverse impacts on the halibut resource.
Thus, there are no relevant environmental or conservation issues that serve the public interest in
this case.

Should this Court grant the injunctive relief requested, Plaintiffs will be able to honor
existing bookings for the 2011 halibut season and mitigate damages already sustained by word of
the final rule having spread throughout Alaska, Canada, the lower forty-eight states and overseas.
Due to timing of the halibut season, the 2011 season may yét be salvaged. Enjoining further
implementation of the final rule will serve the public interest by preventing the economic waste
of numerous small businesses, many in small communities, having to close down their
operations. If the injunction is not granted, and Plaintiffs ultimately prevail, it will be too late for
many charter operators to recover and begin operations anew.

Additionally, COA members are small business owners who pay employees, pay license
fees and return collectively tens of thousands of dollars to the local community purchasing fuel
and equipment and bringing traveling anglers to local hotels, shops and restaurants. The
injunction will serve the public interest by not unnecessarily and perhaps prematurely depriving
the local communities of this economic stimulus.

CONCLUSION

Plaintiffs are entitled to a preliminary injunction as each of the four factors articulated in

Mova Pharm. Corp v. Shalala, 140 F.3d 1060, 1066 (D. C. Cir. 1998) weigh in Plaintiffs’ favor:
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1) Plaintiffs are likely to succeed on the merits; the rule violates both the Halibut Act and the
limited entry provisions of the Magnuson-Stevens Act; 2) Plaintiffs have and will suffer
irreparable injury; without a CHP, Plaintiffs are out of the halibut charter business; 3) any
injunction granted by this Court will have no impact upon the legitimate interest of others and as
explained above, the rule is not intended to protect halibut but to prevent newcomers into the
halibut fleet; and, 4) granting such relief is in the public interest in that, without impacting
halibut reproduction, recruitment or harvest, hundreds of small business owners will be able to
remain in business providing jobs and traveling angler dollars to their local communities and the
State of Alaska.

Pursuant to Local Rule LCVR 7(c), Plaintiffs have included a proposed order granting a

preliminary injunction in the appendix to this memorandum of law.

Respectfully submitted this 4™ day of April, 2011.

2P7PIN GG & SAMS, P. A.
D. Kent Safriet

D.C. Bar No. 467110

119 S. Monroe Street, Suite 300
Tallahassee, Florida 32301

Ph: (850) 222-7500

Fax: (850) 224-8551

Counsel for Plaintiffs
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301-713-2231 (phone)
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U.S. SMALL BUSINESS ADMINISTRATION
WASHINGTON, D.C. 20416

OFFICE OF THE NATIONAL OMBUDSMAN

March 30, 2011

Mr. Allen Walburn

Owner

Alaska’s Kodiak Island Resort
101 1% Street, P.O. Box 36
Larsen Bay, AR 99624

Dear Mr. Walburn:

As per your follow-up e-mail of February 18, 2011, regarding the National Oceanic and
Atmospheric Administration’s (NOAA) response to your original complaint, your follow-up
questions concerning the limited access system for charter vessels in the guide sport fishery
for Pacific halibut in Alaska, was forwarded to NOAA for a further high-level review and
response. I'have enclosed a copy of the response with this letter.

Mr. Walburh, thank you for bririging your concerns to my attention. If you have any questions
or concerns in this matter, please contact José Méndez from my staff by telephone at (202) 205-
2417, fax at (202) 481-5719 or e-mail at Ombudsman@sba.gov.

Sincerely yours,

Esther H. Vassar
National Ombudsman and
Assistant Administrator for Regulatory Enforcement Fairness

Enclosure
EHV/im

The Mission of the Office of the National Ombudsman:
FOSTERING A MORE BUSINESS FRIENDLY REGULATORY ENFORCEMENT ENVIRONMENT.

409 3 Street, SW, MC 2120, Washington, DC 20416-0005 Toll Free: (888) 734-3247 Fax: (202) 481-5719
Website: http://www.sba.gov/ombudsman E-mail: ombudsman@sba.gov

Appendix A




March 30,2011

Follow-up ‘questions from the Small Business Administration on b‘éhalf of Allen Walburri
regarding the charter halibut limited access program.

1. How many businesses will be forced to close because they are unable to obtain permits
for 2011?

An update to the analysis of the charter halibut limited access program (Analysis) in 2009
indicated that 43% of the charter businesses in Southeast Alaska and 34% of the charter
businesses in the Central Gulf of Alaska that were active in 2008 would not qualify for a charter
halibut permit (CHP). This means that those business did not meet the minimum participation
requirements established for the permits (5 charter trips in either 2004 or 2005, and 5 charter

trips in 2008).

Based on the Analysis, the North Pacific Fishery Management Council (Council) and NMFS
determined that a level of activity that is less than 5 halibut charter trips in a year does not
indicate historical dependence on halibut charter fishing. Some of these businesses may have
been small scale, part time operations. Others may have been full time charter businesses that
focused primarily on other species, such as salmon. NMFS cannot assume that these businesses
would be forced to close because they did not qualify for initial issuance of a CHP. Further, the
program provides that businesses can acquire a permit through transfer. NMFS does not know
the extent of the supply and demand for trarisferable permits.

2. How many banks will be forced to foreclose on busmess loans to affected lodge and boat
owners"

NMEFS does not have information on the pnvate financing relatlonslups between banks and
lodge/boat owners.

3. How many affected companies’ employees will lose their jobs?

The number of jobs that would be lost was not quantified in the analysis. That type of evaluation
would have required information on how many employees worked for each operation affected by
the CHP requirements. That information was not available to NMFS. NMFS was able to
estimate the number of businesses that would not receive a CHP because those businesses did
not meet the eligibility requirements (see response to question 1).

4. How many ancillary companies and workers (airlines, flight services, fuel purveyors,
grocers, mechanics, etc.) will suffer economic hardship from this new regulation?

The impact of the CHP on specific communities is difficult to quantify. Charter fishery
businesses impact economies of communities—and the businesses in those communities—Dby
providing jobs and increasing sales. The Analysis noted that the economic impacts that charter
fishery businesses have on communities could not be quantified based on information currently
available to NMFS. That type of evaluation would require information on expenditures and-
products purchased by charter businesses, expenditures by clients as a result of taking the charter




implemented by NOAA Fisheries in 2003. It establishes a guideline harvest within which
charter fishery harvest is to be maintained. ‘

Based on a 2008 recommendation by the Council, NMFS is currently developing regulations for
a halibut catch sharing plan (CSP) in Southeast Alaska and the Central Gulf of Alaska. If
approved, the CSP would change the annual process of allocating halibut between the charter
and commercial fisheries, replace the GHL with a charter catch limit, and specify harvest
restrictions for charter anglers that are intended to limit harvest to the annual charter fishery
catch limit. The CSP also would allow charter operators to lease individual fishing quota from
commercial halibut quota holders to offer charter clients an opportunity to harvest additional
halibut. If approved, the CSP would be in place for the 2012 fishing year.

9. What is the estimated overall financial impact on the Alaska economy for 2011 and
future years? ,

Charter fisheries impact the economies of communities by providing jobs and increasing sales.
The sales generate income for charter operations and secondary businesses and tax revenue for

- local, State, and Federal governments. The number of jobs and expenditures could not be
estimated in the Analysis. However, the communities that have the most active charter industry
would be expected to realize the most benefits from charter activity.




U.S. SMALL BUSINESS ADMINISTRATION
WASHINGTON, D.C. 20416

OFFICE OF THE NATIONAL OMBUDSMAN

March 11, 2011

Mr. Allen Walbum

Owner

Alaska’s Kodiak Island Resort
- 101 1% Street, P.O. Box 36

Larsen Bay, AR 99624

Dear Mr. Walburn:

As indicated in our correspondence of February 3, 2011, regarding your complaint with
the National Oceanic and Atmospheric Administration’s (NOAA) new regulation creating
a limited access system for charter vessels in the guide sport fishery for Pacific halibut in
Alaska, was referred to NOAA for a high-level review and response. I have enclosed a
copy of the response with this letter.

Ms. Walburn, thank you for bringing your concerns to my attention. If you have any
questions or concerns in this matter, please contact José Méndez from my staff by telephone
at (202) 205-2417, fax at (202) 481-5719 or e-mail at Ombudsman@sba.gov.

Sincerely yours,

| é/é%////m

Esther H. Vassar
National Ombudsman and
Assistant Administrator for Regulatory Enforcement Fairness

Enclosure’
EHV/im

The Mission of the Office of the National Ombudsman:
FOSTERING A MORE BUSINESS FRIENDLY REGULATORY ENFORCEMENT ENVIRONMENT.

409 3¢ Street, SW, MC 2120, Washington, DC 20416-0005 Toll Free: (888) 734-3247 Fax: (202) 481-5719
Website: htp://www.sba.gov/ombudsman E-mail: ombudsman@sba.gov
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